2001

Great Salt Lake Authority v. Island Ranching Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is brought before the Court on Interlocutory Appeal under the provisions of Rule 72 (b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The nature of the action is one in eminent domain, commenced by the Respondent to acquire properties of the Appellant. Issues of law relating to the constitutional validity of the legislation establishing the Great Salt Lake Authority and the power of that Agency to condemn the lands of Appellant are raised in this Appeal.

DISPOSITION OF CASE BY LOWER COURT

On May 26, 1965, the trial Court entered an Order denying the Motion of Island Ranching Company to dismiss the Complaint in condemnation of the Respondent for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. On the same date, the lower Court also ordered that the time in which Island Ranching Company was otherwise required to respond to the Complaint, be extended so as to permit the Company to file with this Court a petition for interlocutory appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

It is submitted in this Appeal that the Order of the trial Court denying Appellant's Motion to dismiss should be reversed for errors of law and, that the case be remanded to the District Court with directions to dismiss the Complaint of Respondent for its failure to state a claim as a matter of law, upon which relief can be granted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts underlying this Appeal may be readily capsulized. The Appellant, Island Ranching Company, has been for many years last past and is now the owner in fee simple of substantially all of that property known as Antelope Island in the western section of Davis County, Utah. In November of 1964, Respondent, Great Salt Lake Authority (referred to in this Brief as "GSLA"), filed a Complaint in the District Court for Davis County to expropriate, by eminent domain, some

4,198 acres of the Island, all of which property was owned by the Appellant. (R. 1-3). Within the time permitted by Rule 12, U.R.C.P., Appellant filed a Motion to dismiss (R. 4-5) the Complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. As a basis for the Motion, it was specifically urged that:

1. The Enabling Act of GSLA (65-8-1 through 8, U.C.A. 1953, as amended) is constitutionally invalid and unenforceable for its failure to define the territorial limits of the Agency's jurisdiction.

2. The GSLA Act is constitutionally invalid for vagueness, lack of legislative standards and declared public purpose.

3. Notwithstanding a finding of constitutional enforceability of the Act, the Statute did not grant to GSLA the power to acquire Antelope Island or any part thereof by eminent domain.

4. That by reason of all or any of the foregoing, the condemnation of the Company's property by GSLA would result in an unlawful expropriation of the same in violation of Appellant's right to be secure therefrom, and without due process of law, contrary to Article I, Section VII, Utah State Constitution and Amendment XIV, United States Constitution.

Oral argument of counsel for the parties on these issues was taken by the trial Court on the 8th day of

February, 1965. Memoranda on the applicable law were also submitted by counsel, respectively.

On May 25, 1965, the trial Court entered an Order denying the Company's Motion to dismiss on all counts. (R. 8-9). Appellant's Petition to this Court for interlocutory appeal and review of the lower Court's order denying the Motion to dismiss followed in June, 1965. (R. 15-28). This Court, under Order dated June 29, 1965, granted the Petition for interlocutory appeal and accepted jurisdiction to review the issues of law raised by Appellant's Motion and set out in said Petition.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LEGAL SUFFICIENCY OF THE COMPLAINT OF GSLA IS PROPERLY TESTED BY APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS.

It was before the trial Court and is the position of Island Ranching Company herein that the Complaint of GSLA fails, as a matter of law, to state a claim upon which relief may be granted as against the Appellant. Such Plea in Bar is properly raised by Motion under Rule 12(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. That Rule, in part, provides:

"The following defense may at the option of the pleader be made by motion: * * * (6) Failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted * * *"

The Company, by the Motion, admits only the well-pleaded allegations of fact in the Complaint. *Clark v.*

Nebersee Finanz Korporation, 332 U.S. 480, 68 S.Ct. 174, 92 L.Ed. 148; *Chicago Metallic Manufacturing Company v. Edward Katzinger Co.*, 123 F.2d 518 (7 Cir. 1941). Neither conclusions of law nor mixed statements of law and fact set forth in the Complaint are, by Appellant's Motion to dismiss, acknowledged or admitted. *Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Co. v. Schauffler*, 303 U.S. 54, 58 S.Ct. 466, 82 L.Ed. 546; *Hess v. Petrillo*, 259 F.2d 735 (7 Cir. 1958). *Moore*, in his work on *Federal Practice*, Vol. II, Section 12.08, page 2244, outlines the effect of a motion under Rule 12(b) (6) :

“A motion to dismiss is the usual and proper method of testing the legal sufficiency of the complaint. For the purposes of the motion, the well-pleaded material allegations of the complaint are taken as admitted; but conclusions of law or unwarranted deductions of fact are not admitted.”

Accordingly, only the material assertions of fact under Paragraphs 2, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of GSLA's Complaint are admitted by the Company under the Motion to dismiss. Conclusions embodied in the Complaint, for the purposes of the Motion, are denied.

POINT II

THE GSLA ACT IS CONSTITUTIONALLY INVALID AND UNENFORCEABLE FOR ITS FAILURE TO DEFINE OR DELIMIT THE TERRITORIAL BOUNDARIES OF THE AGENCY'S JURISDICTION.

- (1) **Island Ranching Company has standing to raise the constitutional invalidity of the GSLA Act.**

The rule is well settled that a private individual, who is injuriously affected by an enactment of the legislature, may directly attack its constitutionality. *Weber v. Palmer Bros.*, 270 U.S. 402, 46 S.Ct. 320, 70 L.Ed. 654. That is so because a legislative act which transcends constitutional limitations is void ab initio. As stated by this Court in *State ex rel Univ. of Utah v. Candland et al.*, 36 Utah 406, 104 Pac. 285 (1909):

“A legislative act which is in conflict with the Constitution is stillborn and of no force or effect — impotent alike to confer rights or to afford protection. This general doctrine is adopted by the courts generally and is the doctrine promulgated by the Supreme Court of the United States, as appears from the case of *Norton v. Shelby County*, 118 U.S. 442, 6 Sup. Ct. 1125 (30 L. Ed. 178), where Mr. Justice Field, in speaking for the court, says: ‘An unconstitutional act is not a law; it confers no rights; it imposes no duties; it affords no protection; it creates no office; it is, in legal contemplation, as inoperative as though it had never been passed.’”

While the interest of the individual litigant must be directly infringed by the statute in order that a constitutional attack upon it be justiciable, *Jackson v. City and County of Denver*, 109 Colo. 196, 124 P.2d 240 (1942), it is not open to question that the estate of a landowner whose property is sought to be condemned, satisfies that standard. *Illinois Dept. of Public Works v. Butler Co.*, 13 Ill. 2d 537, 150 N.E. 2d 124 (1958). In the nature of things, the condemnation action results in the divestiture of rights in rem held by the individual in the land.

The warranties of the due process clauses require not less than that such divestiture occur only if the statute, which sanctions the expropriation, is constitutionally adequate. Article I, Sec. VII, Utah Constitution; Amendment XIV, United States Constitution; *Dartmouth College v. Woodward*, 4 Wheat (U.S.) 518, 4 L.Ed. 629 (1819); *Hayes v. Port of Seattle*, 251 U.S. 233, 40 S.Ct. 125, 64 L. Ed. 234; *People of Cal. v. Skinner*, 18 Cal. 2d 349, 115 P.2d 488; *Nichols on Eminent Domain*, Vol. I, Page 442, Sec. 3.5. Accordingly, a landowner in eminent domain may attack the validity of the Act establishing the condemnor-agency. *Miller v. City of Tacoma*, 378 P.2d 464 (Wash. 1963).

Since the rights of the Appellant in its property have been placed in jeopardy by the Complaint of GSLA to condemn part of Antelope Island, the standing of Appellant to challenge the constitutionality of the Enabling Statute, 65-8-1 through 8, U.C.A. 1953, as amended, should be uncontested.

(2) The Legislature did not specify the jurisdictional boundaries of GSLA under the Act.

GSLA is a creature of the Legislature. Its power to act is one of delegation and limitation. Delegation in the sense that the responsibilities, assignments and functions stem from the Legislature. Limitation to the extent that the power of the Agency is confined to and restricted by the proscribed and enacted law. Its facilities are of a strictly derivative and not inherent or self-styled nature. *Piercy v. Civil Service Comm. of Salt*

Lake City, 116 Utah 135, 208 P.2d 1123 (1949). The principle is recorded in *Gouge v. David*, 185 Or. 437, 202 P.2d 489 (1949):

“* * * A statute which creates an administrative agency and invests it with its power restricts it to the powers granted. The agency has no powers except those mentioned in the statute. It is the statute, not the agency, which directs what shall be done. That statute is not a mere outline of policy which the agency is at liberty to disregard or put into effect according to its own ideas of the public welfare. * * *”. P. 498 of 202 P.2d.

Corollary to the doctrine that an administrative agency's power to act is measured by positive delegation from the legislature, is the rule that the statute under which the delegation is made, must particularly define the geographical limits of the agency's jurisdiction. *Konold v. Rio Grande W. Ry. Co.*, 16 Utah 151, 51 Pac. 256 (1897); *Rowell v. State Board of Agriculture*, 98 Utah 353, 99 P.2d 1 (1940). As an agency may not exercise substantive powers it does not possess, in parallel fashion it may not function extraterritorially beyond the reach of its land boundaries, *Pennsylvania Railroad Co. v. Board of Public Utility Commissioners*, 11 N.J. 43, 93 A. 2d 339 (1952), *Knight v. Younkin*, 61 Ida. 612, 105 P.2d 456, and an attempt to do otherwise is void from the beginning. *McGarry v. Industrial Comm. of Utah*, 64 Utah 592, 232 Pac. 1090, 39 A.L.R. 306 (1925).

The requirement that the territorial boundaries of the Agency's jurisdiction be charted, is satisfied only if

such specification is a product of statutory definition and not administrative assertion by the Agency, itself.

In *De Loutch v. Scheper*, 188 So. Car. 21, 198 S.E. 409 (1938) it was held:

“Concededly, the Legislature cannot delegate to some administrative board the right to say what territory shall be included within a political subdivision, for this is a duty which is devolved by law upon it and one which it, and it alone, must exercise.”

So vital to the core of the Enabling Statute is the requirement of territorial delimitation, that an Act which fails such requirement is constitutionally unenforceable. *De Loutch v. Scheper*, supra. In *Revne v. Utah Trading Comm.*, 113 Utah 155, 192 P. 2d 563 (1948), this Court struck down the Barber Control Act as an unconstitutional delegation of legislative power. One of the obstacles in the Act (the lack of territorial boundaries) was pointed out by the concurring opinion:

“Another reason affecting the validity of the Act is that the Legislature has also failed to furnish adequate territorial limits or guides. * * *” (P. 176 of 113 Utah.)

An enabling statute which is not declarative of the agency's territorial boundaries is unconstitutional not only because of the uncertainty of the public body to act, but also because the individual is left guessing as to the nature of his rights under the enactment and its effect upon his property. Such lack of notice is violative of due process of law requirements. *State of Utah v. Packard*, 122 Utah 369, 250 P.2d 561 (1952). Thus, the Illinois

Supreme Court, in *McDougall v. Lueder*, 389 Ill. 141, 58 N.E. 2d 899 (1945), said:

“We have repeatedly held that, to be valid, an Act may not be vague, indefinite and uncertain, but must be complete when it leaves the Legislature and be sufficiently explicit to advise everyone what his rights are under it and how he will be affected by its operation. * * *” (P. 906 of 58 N. E. 2d.)

So the question put to the Court in this Appeal is — whether the territorial boundaries of GSLA are adequately defined by the Act, 65-8-1 et seq., U.C.A. 1953, as amended.

At the outset, the obvious conclusion drawn from this legislation is that it does not have state-wide significance. Throughout the 9 Sections of the Act, the focus is somewhere near the geographical regions of Great Salt Lake, far short of state boundaries. But apart from that fact, a reading of the Act makes it crystal clear that the territorial boundaries of GSLA are totally absent. There is no declaration by meets and bounds, no established markers, monuments or geographical limits set out in any part of the Statute. The singular reference to territorial area in the Act is found in 65-8-1 and 6 of the Act. The former Section, having to do with membership of GSLA, provides that appointment shall be predicated upon “understanding of and interest in the Great Salt Lake and its environs.” Under 65-8-6, Paragraph 8, it is provided that GSLA shall reserve revenues for the development and administration of “the Great Salt Lake and its environs.” Neither of the Sections is of assistance

in determining the jurisdictional boundaries of GSLA. The phrase, "Great Salt Lake and its environs" appears but in connection with specific subject-matter, the first with GSLA membership and the latter with administration of revenues. The phrase is given a generic and indeterminate usage and is not a declaration of territorial limits.

Whether the coined phrase "Great Salt Lake and its environs" includes exposed but former lake bed lands, *islands*, beaches, tourist areas, arterial highways and the like is uncertain. The word "environs" is no litmus since that word implies only a meaning of surrounding influence and conditions. *U. S. v. Amadio*, 215 F. 2d 605 (7 Cir. 1954). Not once in the Statute has the Legislature come close to a definitive statement of the boundaries of GSLA. The latter is as wide or as narrow as the whims of the members of the Authority dictate from time to time.

(3) The jurisdictional boundaries of GSLA cannot, under the facts of this case, be resolved by reference to the title of the Act.

It was argued by GSLA before the trial Court that the defect in the Statute to define the geographical boundaries of GSLA was really no defect at all, because it was said, the title to the Act clearly describes the territorial limits and for constitutional purposes, supplies any statutory deficiency.

That Title, as found in the Laws of Utah 1963, provides:

"GREAT SALT LAKE AUTHORITY

An Act Relating to the Development of All of the Mainland, Islands, Minerals and Water

Within the Great Salt Lake Meander Line Established by the United States Surveyor General; Providing for the Creation of the Great Salt Lake Authority to Formulate and Execute a Program for Such Development and Appropriating \$200,000 from the General Fund to the Great Salt Lake Authority." Laws of Utah 1963, Ch. 161, P. 566.

It was thus claimed that the territorial boundary of the Agency was the meander line as established by the U.S. Surveyor General.

There are several reasons why the contention of GSLA in this regard cannot stand. Foremost, is the fact that the meander line is mentioned in the body of the Statute but once, and only then in connection with the division of operational revenues. 65-8-6, Paragraph 8. The thrust of that Paragraph relates wholly to intramural activities of the Agency. Its use in the Statute is plainly non-jurisdictional.

Secondly, is the fact that Section 65-8-6 of the Act makes it quite clear that the meander line was not intended as a boundary line. Rather, as set forth in Paragraph 8 thereof, it is merely a reference point, within or without which "the Great Salt Lake and its environs" might fluctuate:

"The Authority shall not receive revenues which accrue * * * from mineral leases * * * within the Great Salt Lake Meander Line established by the United States Surveyor General. All other revenues, including such amounts as may be made available by the legislature shall be reserved and used in the development and administration of the

Great Salt Lake and its environs by the Authority." 65-8-6, Para. 8. (Emphasis ours)

The Paragraph, in its larger context, indicates that the meander line is but a part of the "Great Salt Lake and its environs." If it were the legislative intent that the meander line, so-called, was to be the jurisdictional boundary, specific reference to it in Paragraph 8 above was completely unnecessary. In that event, the Paragraph, as in other segments of the Act, would have provided that mineral revenues, from lands within the "boundaries of jurisdiction," would accrue to the State Land Board.

Thirdly, is the long accepted rule that jurisdictional and constitutional requirements of a statute must be found in the substantive legislation and not in the title. *Chabre v. Page*, 298 Mich. 278, 299 N.W. 82 (1941); *King v. King*, 193 Misc. 750, 85 N.Y.S. 2d 563 (1948); *Donahue v. Warner Bros. Picture Dist. Corp.*, 2 U. 2d 256, 272 P. 2d 177 (1954). The latter is but a prologue, an expression of purpose, an accessory to the Act. As declared by the Arizona Court in *Maricopa Co. v. La Prade*, 45 Ariz. 61, 40 P. 2d 94 (1945):

"* * * It is the body, and not the title, which determines whether the act is within the call for, after all, the body is the true legislation; the title and enacting clause being merely necessary accessories thereto. * * *" (P. 98 of 40 P. 2d.)

Reference to a title may be made only to remove a latent ambiguity in the statute, itself. *Donahue v. Warner Bros. Picture Dist. Corp.*, 2 U. 2d 256, 272 P. 2d 177

(1954); *Brotherhood of R. R. Trainmen v. G. & O. R. Co.*, 331 U. S. 519, 91 L. Ed. 1646 (1946). It cannot be used to supply constitutional vitality to a Statute which is otherwise deficient. A contrary conclusion would entail a finding that the title is a part of the statutory law, a result which is clearly not the rule of the case.

Even were it concluded that resort may be had to the title of the GSLA Act to determine the territorial boundaries, it is patent under the facts of this suit, that such does not cure the constitutional inadequacy. The title of the GSLA Act refers to the development of properties and water "within the Great Salt Lake *meander line* established by the United States Surveyor General". This Court may and will take judicial notice of official acts of the U. S. Surveyor General in the establishment of a meander line on the Great Salt Lake. 75-25-1 (3), U.C.A. 1953. It is an established fact that the United States Surveyor had not, at the date of passage of the GSLA Act or has he since, made a final or completed survey or meander of the Great Salt Lake. The Attorney General of Utah himself, has acknowledged the accuracy of the point. *Statement of Attorney General*, Hearing of U. S. Senate Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, Subcommittee on Public Lands, March 17, 1965, Page 20. Since the survey is not final or completed, there can be no final or complete territorial boundaries of GSLA under the Act, even with resort to the title.

Under the limits of the Statute, the scope of activity of this Agency could run to Cache County on the north,

Uintah Basin on the east, and St. George City on the south, just as well as to Antelope Island, all dependent upon how large a circle was selected by the Authority as its measuring stick. Because of that fact and the inability of Appellant to determine the nature of its rights under the Statute, 65-8-1 et seq. is constitutionally unenforceable.

POINT III

THE GSLA ACT IS CONSTITUTIONALLY INVALID BECAUSE OF UNLAWFUL DELEGATION OF LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY AND STANDARDS.

The decisional law of this Court is firm that an administrative statute, to be constitutionally sustained, must reasonably identify and circumscribe the powers, duties, and responsibilities of the government agency, as well as the regulatory standards under which it is to operate. *Nowers v. Oakden*, 110 Utah 25, 169 P. 2d 108 (1946); *McGrew v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 96 Utah 203, 85 P. 2d 608 (1938). In *State of Utah v. Packard*, 122 Utah 369, 250 P. 2d 561 (1952), this court quoted with approval *Connally v. General Construction Co.*, 269 U. S. 385, 46 S. Ct. 126, 70 L. Ed. 322, wherein it was said:

“A statute which either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application violates the first essential of due process of law.” (P. 374 of 122 Utah.)

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