1967

Great Salt Lake Authority v. Island Ranching Company : Brief of Respondent

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

"The absence of such standards, or safeguards . . . , renders effective review of the exercise of delegated power impossible. * * * Delegated power must be accompanied by suitable safeguards to guide its use and to protect against its misuse." *Blumenthal v. Board of Medical Examiners*, 57 C.2d 228, 368 P.2d 101, 105 (1962).

The Arizona Court in *Schechter v. Killingsworth*, 93 Ariz. 273, 380 P.2d 136 (1963), stated its continued reliance upon the criteria of validity of legislative delegation of power to administrative bodies formulated by it in one of its earlier decisions (*Southwest Engineering Co. v. Ernst*, 79 Ariz. 403, 291 P.2d 764, 772, 775 (1955)):

"We note also a distinct modern tendency to be more liberal in the granting of discretion in the administration of laws in fields where the complexities of economic and governmental con-

ditions have increased, particularly where it is impractical to lay down a comprehensive rule. * * * If the law provides a defined course of conduct upon the occurrence or determination of a particular condition or state of facts, even though that determination is dependent upon an evaluation in the nature of a deduction from facts, there is neither an unconstitutional delegation of power *nor is the act so indefinite and uncertain that it can be held to be invalid.*" (P. 144, 380 P.2d). (Emphasis added).

The Arizona Court in the *Schechter* opinion was strongly persuaded by the existence of ". . . adequate provision for judicial review . . ." in ruling in favor of the constitutional validity of the delegation of power by the legislature. (See P. 144, 380 P.2d).

A recent decision of the California Supreme Court is particularly in point. The Justices were unanimous in upholding the validity of a legislative delegation of power to an administrative agency which was established for the accomplishment of purposes substantially similar to those for which the Great Salt Lake Authority was established. *In Re Bunker Hill Urban Renewal Project 1B*, 37 Cal. Rptr. 74, 389 P.2d 538 (1964). The Court reviewed an agency which had been created for the purposes of designating areas in Los Angeles for development and formulating plans for said development. The Court was realistically cognizant of the situation motivating the legislature to create such an agency and the effect that such legislative motivation should properly have on the court's judgment.

“It appears to us likewise that the scope of permissible delegation of power to the agency should ‘be measured in terms of the complexity and diversity of the conditions which will be encountered’ in the performance of the final plan.” (P. 558, 559, 389 P.2d).

In the same decision, the Court expressed its attitude toward the relationship between a legislative body and an administrative body:

“The essentials of the legislative function are the determination and formulation of the legislative policy. Generally speaking, attainment of the ends, including how and by what means they are to be achieved, may constitutionally be left in the hands of others.” (P. 564, 389 P.2d).

This Court, in the instant appeal, is faced with a situation identical to the situation before the California Court in the above case.

- (2) The Statute establishing the Great Salt Lake Authority contains an adequately defined legislative policy and sufficient procedural safeguards.

The Legislature established the Great Salt Lake Authority for the purpose of development of the Great Salt Lake and its environs as expressed by Section 65-8-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended. This Section is the initial statement of the Legislative policy. The remaining provisions of the Statute contain ample definition of the meaning of the word “development” in further delineation of the Legislative policy.

Section 65-8-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, establishes an Advisory Council to the Authority. The following State departments and agencies are members of this Council: State Engineer, Tourist and Publicity Council, State Parks and Recreation Commission, Fish and Game Commission, State Land Board, State Road Commission, State Water and Power Board. The conclusion is inevitable that these departments and agencies were chosen because the GSLA would be operating in areas wherein the special knowledge of these sister agencies could be of assistance.

Section 65-8-6(5), Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, describes with specificity what the Legislature means by "development". The Legislature has instructed the Authority to design plans and programs to coordinate the development of grazing areas, fish and game activities, mining and mineral removal, and natural resources—with emphasis on utilization of water resources, industrial activities, and recreational and tourist facilities.

The result intended to be achieved by the Legislature involves a program of operation too varied and complex to be effectively performed by the Legislature. The complexity of the intended program necessitated the creation of an administrative body. To require the Legislature to be meticulously specific in defining its policy is to substantially destroy the value of administrative agencies as vehicles for implementing broad legislative policy.

Section 65-8-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, expresses the necessity of creating an administrative body in the instant situation by requiring its members to be persons “. . . who shall be selected because of their *understanding* of and demonstrated interest in the development of the Great Salt Lake and its environs.” (Emphasis added). The Legislature thus recognized its dependence upon the expertise of an administrative agency to achieve practical realization of a broad legislative policy—a policy which the Legislature was able to formulate only as a statement of the result it desired to achieve.

Title 65, Chapter 8, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, satisfies the second major criterion of validity of a legislative delegation of power to an administrative body by including provisions limiting the Authority’s discretion so as to protect the public and private interests. Throughout the Statute, the Legislature has specified that the activities of the Authority must be “reasonably” related to the accomplishment of the results desired to be achieved. The standard of “reasonableness” is susceptible to practical interpretation by the judiciary.

The most substantial power delegated to the Authority, eminent domain, is subject to the provisions of Title 78, Chapter 34, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. (See Section 65-8-6(7), Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended). The procedural limitations imposed upon the Authority’s exercise of the power of eminent domain

are more fully discussed in Point IV of this brief. The protection of public and private interests from arbitrary and discriminatory taking of property by the Authority is effectively provided for.

In addition to the procedural safeguards mentioned above, the discretion of the Authority is circumscribed by Section 65-8-6(1), Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended. Acquisition of all real or personal property, in any manner authorized by the Statute, requires the approval of the Legislature. The credit of the State of Utah cannot be pledged without the consent of the Legislature, thereby allowing the Legislature to exercise a very effective control upon the discretion of GSLA with regard to the acquisition of real and personal property.

(3) Appellant is not justified in asserting its ability to ascertain its position under the Act.

A reading of the Act reveals that the Legislature intended Antelope Island to be included within the term "Great Salt Lake and its environs." Section 65-8-6(10), Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, embodies a detailed legislative mandate to the Authority to initiate immediate action for the purpose of developing properties on Antelope Island as tourist and recreational attractions. The extent of the legislative grant of power to GSLA to enable it to obey this mandate is discussed in Point IV of this brief.

The legislative intent with regard to the properties on Antelope Island is further revealed by Section 65-

8-8, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, which states in part:

“Within the limitations of available funds the state road commission is authorized to construct a road from the town of Syracuse to the *north end of Antelope Island* along with the necessary roads on the *island* to serve the *recreational development*. These roads are to be located by the state road commission with approval of the authority, and are to be programmed for design and construction *upon the securing of Antelope Island property*.” (Emphasis added).

The validity of the legislative delegation of power to the Great Salt Lake Authority must be decided with reference to the circumstances motivating the creation of GSLA by the Legislature.

The Authority was established to accomplish the desire of the Legislature that the “Great Salt Lake and its environs” be developed to the maximum extent. Implementation of such a legislative policy contemplates a staggeringly complex program of operation. To require a precise statutory description of such a program would unduly burden the Legislature.

The Legislature has outlined for the Authority's guidance the purpose to be accomplished and the areas of operation for accomplishing that purpose. The Act defines the methods of operation by enumeration of GSLA's legal powers. The Legislature has conferred upon the Authority that amount of discretion deemed realistically necessary to successful implementation of

the legislative policy. This discretion has been sufficiently limited by procedural safeguards designed to protect the public and private interests involved, resulting in a balance which is acceptable to the courts.

There is no basis upon which the delegation of power to GSLA can be held unconstitutionally invalid.

POINT IV

ANY INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 65-8-6(10), UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953 AS AMENDED, DENYING GSLA POWER TO ACQUIRE PROPERTIES ON ANTELOPE ISLAND BY EMINENT DOMAIN IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE CLEAR LEGISLATIVE INTENT.

The appellant relies upon several widely-respected canons of statutory construction discussed in detail below to support an interpretation of Section 65-8-6(10), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, which denies the Authority the power to acquire properties on Antelope Island by eminent domain. It must be emphasized, however, that the primary function of such canons is to aid the courts in ascertaining the intent of the Legislature.

- (1) Canons of statutory interpretation will not be used to frustrate the intent of the Legislature.

The primary purpose of canons of statutory construction is the determination of the legislative intent.

In determining the legislative intent, the Utah Supreme Court has generally placed primary emphasis upon an examination of the purpose of the legislation as expressed by the statute. "It is generally recognized that courts will give an act such a construction as will accomplish its purpose." *Ralph Child Construction Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 12 U.2d 53, 58, 362 P.2d 422, (1961).

This Court in *Rogers v. Wagstaff*, 120 Utah 136, 232 P.2d 766 (1951), stated that the primary rule of statutory construction is the ascertainment of the intention of the Legislature in order that the intent can be effectively accomplished.

A difficult problem of statutory construction arises when a provision of a statute is allegedly susceptible to more than one interpretation. The Utah Supreme Court has been practical in those instances in which it has faced this problem. In *Driggs v. Utah State Teachers Retirement Board*, 105 Utah 417, 142 P.2d 657 (1943), it was stated that the statutory language must be interpreted to effectuate the purposes of the statute and ". . . as between two possible constructions, that one will be adopted which does so give effect to its purpose." (P. 633, 142 P.2d). In *Conover v. Board of Education*, 110 Utah 454, 175 P.2d 209. (1946), this Court said: "It is settled law that an interpretation which defeats any of the manifest purposes of the statute cannot be accepted." (P. 210, 175 P.2d). In *Snyder v. Clune*, 15 U.2d 254, 390 P.2d 915 (1964).

the Court stated that results incongruous with the legislative purposes are to be avoided. In *Rowley v. Public Service Commission*, 112 Utah 116, 185 P.2d 514, (1947), the Court held that legislative intent will prevail over a literal interpretation, especially where the literal interpretation will yield an absurd result. In *Maisch v. United States Smelting, Refining & Mining Co.*, 113 Utah 101, 191 P.2d 612, (1948), the Court said that, in addition to avoiding an interpretation that will result in confusion or uncertainty, the Court should adopt that construction which “. . . will permit the officials having the responsibility for its administration to proceed in an orderly manner.” (P. 620, 191 P.2d).

The appellant, Island Ranching Company, maintains that a literal reading of Section 65-8-6(10), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, would lead to the conclusion that the property on Antelope Island is immune from the power of eminent domain as exercised by the Great Salt Lake Authority. Appellant asserts that two fundamental rules of statutory construction, *ejusdem generis* and *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, compel an interpretation of the phrase “or other lawful means” contained in subsection (10), which would limit the phrase to legal proceedings in which the consent of the parties involved is necessary because the specific words, “donation”, “purchase”, etc., preceding the phrase “or other lawful means” limit that more general phrase to lawful means having the same common denominator as the specific words, i.e. consent.

The Utah Supreme Court has said, however, that the rule of *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* may not be used to defeat the apparent intent of the Legislature. *Spring Canyon Coal Co. v. Industrial Commission*, 74 Utah 103, 277 Pac. 206, (1929).

In regard to the use of the maxim *ejusdem generis* the Colorado Court is in accord with the reasoning of the Utah Court:

“The rule of *ejusdem generis* is resorted to merely as an aid of construction. If upon consideration of the whole law upon the subject and the purposes to be effected, *it is apparent the legislature intended the general words to go beyond the class specifically designated the rule does not apply.*” *Martinez v. People*, 137 P.2d 690, 693 (1943). (Emphasis added).

The language of Title 65, Chapter 8, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, clearly reveals the purpose of the Statute to be development of the lake area to the greatest degree possible.

The Legislature revealed its awareness of GSLA's need for the power of eminent domain when it expressly granted that power for the purposes of acquiring real and personal property in furtherance of the purposes of the Statute. Section 65-8-6(1), Utah Code Annotated, 1953. No distinction as to where the property must be located is made, as long as it is within the “Great Salt Lake and its environs.”

The property on Antelope Island is within the territorial jurisdiction of the Authority's powers. Fur-

thermore, the Legislature specifically designated Antelope Island as a primary target for "tourist and recreational uses." Section 65-8-6(10), Utah Code Annotated, 1953. Nevertheless, it is argued that despite the legislative intent revealed by consideration of the preceding paragraphs, the phrase empowering the Authority to act with respect to the property on Antelope Island excludes the exercise by the Authority of the power of eminent domain to procure that property.

It is submitted that the above argument is more than sufficient to show that a limitation of the phrase, "or other lawful means", Section 65-8-6(10), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, by application of rules of statutory construction formulated by the courts to discover legislative intent, would only frustrate the accomplishment of a legislative intent that is very clearly stated.

This Court has itself stated a proper course of action when faced with statutory provisions which appear to be in conflict:

"It is our duty in interpreting a statute to give effect to the legislative intent as expressed by the wording of the statute. If reasonably possible, effect should be given to every part of a statute and if the enactment is subject to one or more interpretations by reason of conflicting provisions, *then that construction which will harmonize and give effect to all provisions is preferred.*" *Taft v. Glade*, 201 P.2d 144, 285, 287, Utah 435 (1948).

It is emphasized that Subsections (1) and (10) of Section 65-8-6, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, are not

in conflict, but the above quotation is simply in reply to appellant's erroneous assumption that said provisions are in fact conflicting. If the phrase "or other lawful means" contained in Subsection (10) is read to include those means defined as "legal" in Subsection (1), i.e. purchases, gift, devise, eminent domain, etc., the alleged conflict would evaporate and effect would be given to all provisions of the Statute in accord with the stated legislative intent.

- (2) The judicial policy of strict construction of statutes granting the power of eminent domain is not properly applicable to the GSLA Act.

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